
 

 
 
Notice of meeting of  

 
Gambling, Licensing & Regulatory Committee 

 
To: Councillors Boyce (Chair), Crisp, Doughty, Gillies (Vice-

Chair), Hyman, Jeffries, King, Looker, Merrett, Orrell, 
Riches, Semlyen, Richardson, Taylor and Wiseman 
 

Date: Wednesday, 5 October 2011 
 

Time: 4.00 pm 
 

Venue: The Guildhall 
 

 
A G E N D A 

 
 
 
 
1. Declarations of Interest    
 At this point Members are asked to declare any personal or 

prejudicial interests they may have in the business on this 
agenda. 
 

2. Minutes   (Pages 3 - 8) 
 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 13 July 

2011 
 

3. Public Participation    
 At this point in the meeting members of the public who have 

registered their wish to speak regarding an item on the agenda or 
an issue within the Committee’s remit can do so.  The deadline 
for registering is 5:00 pm on Tuesday 4 October 2011. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
4. Polling District Review.   (Pages 9 - 36) 
 This report informs Members of the review of polling districts, 

polling places and polling stations carried out in the city council 
area in response to legislation introduced by the Electoral 
Administration Act 2006.  

 
 

5. Any other business which the Chair considers 
urgent under the  Local Government Act 1972   

 

 

Democracy Officer: 
 
Name: Laura Bootland 
Contact Details: 

• Telephone – (01904) 552062 
• E-mail – laura.bootland@york.gov.uk 

 
 
 

For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democracy Officer responsible for servicing this meeting Laura 
Bootland  
 

• Registering to speak 
• Business of the meeting 
• Any special arrangements 
• Copies of reports 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



About City of York Council Meetings 
 

Would you like to speak at this meeting? 
If you would, you will need to: 

• register by contacting the Democracy Officer (whose name and contact 
details can be found on the agenda for the meeting) no later than 5.00 
pm on the last working day before the meeting; 

• ensure that what you want to say speak relates to an item of business on 
the agenda or an issue which the committee has power to consider (speak 
to the Democracy Officer for advice on this); 

• find out about the rules for public speaking from the Democracy Officer. 
A leaflet on public participation is available on the Council’s website or 
from Democratic Services by telephoning York (01904) 551088 
 
Further information about what’s being discussed at this meeting 
All the reports which Members will be considering are available for viewing 
online on the Council’s website.  Alternatively, copies of individual reports or the 
full agenda are available from Democratic Services.  Contact the Democracy 
Officer whose name and contact details are given on the agenda for the 
meeting. Please note a small charge may be made for full copies of the 
agenda requested to cover administration costs. 
 
Access Arrangements 
We will make every effort to make the meeting accessible to you.  The meeting 
will usually be held in a wheelchair accessible venue with an induction hearing 
loop.  We can provide the agenda or reports in large print, electronically 
(computer disk or by email), in Braille or on audio tape.  Some formats will take 
longer than others so please give as much notice as possible (at least 48 hours 
for Braille or audio tape).   
 
If you have any further access requirements such as parking close-by or a sign 
language interpreter then please let us know.  Contact the Democracy Officer 
whose name and contact details are given on the order of business for the 
meeting. 
 
Every effort will also be made to make information available in another 
language, either by providing translated information or an interpreter providing 
sufficient advance notice is given.  Telephone York (01904) 551550 for this 
service. 

 

Agenda AnnexPage 1



 
Holding the Executive to Account 
The majority of councillors are not appointed to the Executive (38 out of 47).  
Any 3 non-Executive councillors can ‘call-in’ an item of business from a 
published Executive (or Executive Member Advisory Panel (EMAP)) agenda. 
The Executive will still discuss the ‘called in’ business on the published date 
and will set out its views for consideration by a specially convened Scrutiny 
Management Committee (SMC).  That SMC meeting will then make its 
recommendations to the next scheduled Executive meeting in the following 
week, where a final decision on the ‘called-in’ business will be made.  
 
Scrutiny Committees 
The purpose of all scrutiny and ad-hoc scrutiny committees appointed by the 
Council is to:  

• Monitor the performance and effectiveness of services; 
• Review existing policies and assist in the development of new ones, as 

necessary; and 
• Monitor best value continuous service improvement plans 

 
Who Gets Agenda and Reports for our Meetings?  

• Councillors get copies of all agenda and reports for the committees to 
which they are appointed by the Council; 

• Relevant Council Officers get copies of relevant agenda and reports for 
the committees which they report to;  

• Public libraries get copies of all public agenda/reports.  
 

Page 2



City of York Council Committee Minutes 

MEETING GAMBLING, LICENSING & REGULATORY 
COMMITTEE 

DATE 13 JULY 2011 

PRESENT COUNCILLORS BOYCE (CHAIR), DOUGHTY, 
GILLIES (VICE-CHAIR), HYMAN, JEFFRIES, KING, 
MERRETT, RICHES, SEMLYEN, RICHARDSON 
AND TAYLOR 

APOLOGIES COUNCILLORS CRISP, LOOKER, ORRELL AND 
WISEMAN 

 
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
At this point in the meeting, Members are asked to declare any 
personal or prejudicial interests they may have in the business 
on the agenda. 
 
Councillor Hyman declared a personal interest as he is 
acquainted with Allan Davies, one of the registered speakers. 
 
Councillor Taylor declared a personal interest as he had been 
involved as a witness at the court case mentioned in the agenda 
papers. 
 
Councillor Gillies declared a personal interest as the former 
Chair of Licensing & Regulatory Committee that had previously 
discussed some of the issues contained within agenda item 4. 
 
 

2. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED: (i)That the minutes of the Gambling & 

Licensing Committee on 19 November 2010, 
be approved with the following amendment: 

 
 Under Minute Item 14, Section 6, the words 

‘with the view to the issue being considered at 
a future meeting’ be added at the end of the 
paragraph. 

 
 (ii) That the minutes of the Licensing and 

Regulatory Committee held on 7 January 2011 
be approved. 

Agenda Item 2Page 3



 
 
 

3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
It was reported that there had been 4 registrations to speak 
under the Counci’s Public Participation Scheme. 3 of the 
registered speakers were present at the start of the meeting. 
 
Allan Davies, the Chairman of the Independent Taxi Association 
advised that he agreed with the findings of the Taxi Licensing 
Task Group in relation to the Duncombe Place Taxi Rank. He 
did not agree with all of the recommendations relating to 
Objective (iii), Emissions.  
 
Mr. Brolly of the Independent Taxi Association queried if the 
unmet demand survey had been completed and whether the 
recommendation to introduce more licences for eco-friendly 
vehicles should be implemented until the survey had been 
carried out. In relation to emissions in the City he suggested that 
non licensed vehicles should be prevented from entering the city 
centre as much as possible. 
 
Mr. Rowley of York Taxi Association raised concerns regarding 
the Council’s current policy to issue 2 new hackney licences 
every 6  months. He advised that this was double the amount 
Halcrow suggested following the last unmet demand survey. He 
stated that in his opinion, the trade had reached saturation level 
and asked why the Council wished to continue with a policy to 
issue extra licences, which if legally challenged, would fail. He 
suggested that no more licences should be issued until a new 
policy is in place and that any new policy should not be rushed 
through. 
 
 

4. REVIEW OF TAXI LICENSING POLICY - FINAL REPORT.  
 
Members considered the final report arising from the review of 
the Taxi Licensing Policy. As Chair of the Taxi Licensing Review 
Task Group, Councillor Watt, along with the Scrutiny Officer, 
attended to present the report. 
 
In relation to recommendation 1, Members queried whether the 
issuing of 2 additional licences for hybrid vehicles would be over 
and above licences issued subject to future unmet demand 

Page 4



surveys. Councillor Watt confirmed this to be the case. 
Members suggested that the wording of the recommendation be 
amended to reflect this. 
 
Members queried the legality of issuing licences for hybrid 
vehicles if the unmet demand survey indicates that there is no 
unmet demand.  
 
In light of their concerns,  they advised that while they were  
broadly supportive of the report’s findings, they felt that a further 
report should be brought back to the Committee once the 
results of the unmet demand survey are known. This would 
enable Members to make specific amendments to Taxi 
Licensing Policy if required, in relation to the issuing of new 
licences. 
 
Members noted that some of the recommendations would be 
signed off as delegated Officer decisions. 
 
RESOLVED: (i)That the Committee approved 

recommendations 5 to 15 of the Review. 
 
 (ii)That recommendation 1 be approved 

subject to the wording being  amended as 
outlined in paragraph 2, above. 

 
 (iii)That the Taxi Licensing Policy be re-drafted 

to take into account the recommendations 
approved by this Committee, the results of the 
Halcrow Unmet Demand Survey and the 
Officer delegated decisions  in relation 
recommendations 2,3,4 and 16. 

  
 (iv)That the draft revised Taxi Licensing Policy 

be presented to the Gambling, Licensing and 
Regulatory Committee at a future date.1 

 
REASON: To fully inform the revision of the Council’s 

Taxi Licensing Policy. 
 
Action Required  
1. Produce report as requested.   
 
 

 
LC  

 

Page 5



5. REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS, POLLING PLACES AND 
POLLING STATIONS.  
 
Members considered a report which informed them of the duty 
on all local authorities to carry out a review of polling districts, 
polling places and polling stations in their area within 4 years of 
the completion of the first review carried out in 2007, as laid 
down by the Electoral Administration Act 2006. 
 
City of York Council completed the last review in November 
2007 and the next review must be completed by November 
2012. 
 
The Electoral Services Manager outlined the report and 
Members made the following comments: 
 

• In some polling districts, electors have to walk past a 
polling station to get to the one allocated to them. 
Members were happy to note that the geographical 
location of polling stations was to reassessed. 

• Certain Members queried what equalities issues would be 
covered by the review. The Officer confirmed that access 
to buildings would be considered but equalities matters 
relating to the actual voting process is covered by different 
legislation and would not be part of this review. 
 

Members were invited to contact the Electoral Services 
Manager with any further feedback they may have. 
 
RESOLVED: That Members noted the contents of the 

report. 
 
REASON:  In order to comply with statutory requirements. 
 
 

6. URGENT BUSINESS  
 
At the end of the meeting, Members briefly discussed the 
contents of a report by a Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence 
holder which had been circulated to them prior to the meeting.  
 
The Chair agreed to take comments under Urgent Business as 
discussion of agenda items had been completed. 
 

Page 6



Members felt that it would be beneficial if a report was brought 
to the Committee on the issues surrounding plate ownership. 
 
They also requested that in light of the recent election and a 
number of new Members being on the Committee, they would 
benefit from a training session specifically on Taxi Licensing 
Policy and asked that this be arranged. 
 
RESOLVED: (i)That an Officer report on plate ownership be 

brought to the Committee for consideration at 
a future meeting.2 

 
 (ii)That Officers arrange a training session for 

Members on Taxi Licensing Policy.3 
 
REASON: To keep Members of the Gambling, Licensing 

and Regulatory Committee fully informed on 
issues within their remit. 

 
 
 
Action Required  
2. Produce report as requested.  
3. Liaise with Member Services to arrange training session.   
 
 

 
LC  
LC  

 
 
 
 
Councillor Boyce, Chair 
[The meeting started at 4.30 pm and finished at 5.55 pm]. 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

   
 
  

 
Report of the Assistant Director of Governance and IT  
 
Review of Polling Districts, Polling Places and Polling Stations 
 

Summary 

1. This report informs Members of the review of polling districts, 
polling places and polling stations carried out in the city council 
area in response to legislation introduced by the Electoral 
Administration Act 2006.  

Background 

2. The Electoral Administration Act 2006 introduced a duty on all 
local authorities to carry out a review of polling districts, polling 
places and polling stations in their area by the end of 2007 and 
to carry out such a review every four years. 

 
Aim of the Review 

 
3. Local Authorities are required to divide their area into polling 

districts for the purposes of parliamentary elections and to 
designate polling places for these polling districts and to keep 
them under review. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 4Page 9



 
Local Authorities must: 
 

• Seek to ensure that all electors in the constituency have 
such reasonable facilities for voting as are practicable in 
the circumstances 
 

• Seek to ensure that so far as is reasonable and 
practicable the polling places they are responsible for are 
accessible to all electors, including those who are 
disabled and when considering the designation of polling 
places must have regard to the accessibility needs of 
disabled persons. 
 

The Review Process 
 

6 A local authority is required to publish notice of the holding of 
a review and this in York has taken the form of a notice in 
the local press, on the council website and writing to all 
interested bodies.  The notice stated that the review 
commenced on the 1st July and invited comments and 
representations from interested parties and bodies. 
 

7 Consultation also took place with local political parties, 
parish councils, disability awareness groups and local 
community groups. 

 
8 A council web page was introduced referring to the review 

inviting comments.  This provided further information 
regarding current polling arrangements and maps of current 
polling districts showing polling stations. A period of two 
months consultation ended on the 30th August. 

 
Consultation 

 
9 As part of the consultation process detailed discussions 

have taken place between the Electoral Services Manager 
and the City Council’s City Development Team to discuss 
future housing developments and likely completions within 
the next four years.  

Page 10



10 Whilst there are a substantial number of housing 
developments planned at various sites throughout the city it 
is felt that only one of these would warrant the creation of a 
separate polling district or polling place at this current time.   

 
11 In other areas it is believed that the increased electorate can 

be comfortably absorbed by the current polling places. 
   
 

Representations Received 
 

12 Compared to the review undertake in 2007 where only two 
representations were received, the review undertaken this 
year did draw more responses.  In total 20 responses were 
received by the Electoral Services Manager, a number were 
supporting current arrangements while the rest did put 
forward requests for alterations to voting arrangements. 
 

13 Details of all responses are provided in full Table 1 in the 
appendix. 

 
 
Options 
 

Option One – Members may agree to alter the polling the 
provision of polling arrangements detailed in Table 
2 in the appendix. 

 
Option Two –  Members may decide agree some of the alterations 

to the polling provisions detailed in Table 2 in the 
appendix. 

 
Option Three –  Members may decide not to make any alterations to 

the current polling arrangements. 
 
  

  
 
 
 

Page 11



Corporate Objectives 
14   

• Improve the way the Council and it’s partners work 
together to deliver better services 

 
• Improve our focus on the needs of customers and 

residents in designing and providing services 
 

Implications 
 

14 There are no financial, human resource, crime and disorder, 
information technology, risk management or property 
implications associated with this report. 

 
Equalities 

 
15 The review has considered equalities issues for each current 

and proposed polling station, based on the guidance 
provided by the Electoral Commission. 

 
Legal 

 
16 The review is necessary to meet legal requirements 
 

Recommendation 
 
17 Members are recommended to agree to Option One to 

alter the polling arrangements as detailed in table 2. 
   
 

 
Reason 
 

In order to provide consistency in polling arrangements for the 
electors in polling districts outlined in table 2. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



 
 
 
Contact Details 

Author: Chief Officer Responsible for the 
report: 

Andrew Flecknor 
Electoral Services 
Manager 
CBBS 
 
01904 552032 
 
 

 Andy Docherty 
Assistant Director of Governance 
and IT 
CBBS 
 
01904 552004 
 

  

 Report 
Approved 

 
ü 

Date  

 
Wards Affected:   All Yes 
  
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 

 
Background Papers 
 
Electoral Administration Act 2006 
 
 
 
Appendix  
 
Table 1 –  Schedule of Representations received by the 

Deputy Returning Officer. 
 

Page 13



Ward 
Representation 
submitted by 

Details of Representation 

Acomb  
Cllr Horton 

 
Agrees with current arrangements 
 

  
Holy Redeemer Church 

 
Happy with current arrangement for future 
use as a polling station for AA polling 
district. 
 

Clifton 
 

 
None 
 
 

 

Dringhouses & 
Woodthorpe 

Cllr Reid 

CA & CB polling districts to share St 
Edward the Confessor Church Hall as 
polling stations. 
 
CA polling district currently uses St. 
Edward the Confessor Church Hall and 
CB currently uses Dringhouses Primary 
School 

Woodthorpe Primary 
School 

Woodthorpe Primary School not be used 
as a polling station for future elections to 
minimise disruption to children 

Liberal Democrat Group 
Woodthorpe Primary School not be used 
as a polling station for future elections to 
minimise disruption to children 

Fishergate Cllr Taylor 
All polling stations should be centrally 
located within the polling district where 
possible. 

Guildhall 

Cllr Looker 
National Centre for Early Music not 
suitable for older electors in west part of 
ED polling district 

Acting Returning Officer 
Provision of polling stations for EC and ED 
are not currently providing the best 
arrangements for electors. 

Heworth 
 

 
None  

Holgate 
 

Holgate Methodist 
Church 

Happy with current arrangement for future 
use as a polling station for GB polling 
district. 

Hull Road Acting Returning Officer York Environment Centre located outside 
of HA polling district and not currently 

Page 14



providing the best arrangements for 
electors. 

Micklegate 

Cllr Merrett 

Scarcroft Primary School in JB not able to 
provide adequate arrangements for 
electors, Clements Hall located opposite 
may be more suitable. 

Acting Returning Officer 

All Saints R.C. School on Mill Lane not 
able to provide adequate arrangements 
for electors, English Martyrs Church on 
Dalton Terrace may be more suitable 

 
All Saints R.C. School 

Unable to provide venue for future 
elections. 
 

Westfield 

York Liberal Democrat 

Use of Gateway Christian Centre as a 
joint polling station for AB and KE polling 
districts considered awkward for electors 
 
Representation for merging of KA and KC 
to single polling district with Westfield 
Primary School used as double station. 

Acting Returning Officer 

Use of Gateway Christian Centre as a 
joint polling station for AB and KE polling 
districts not currently providing the best 
arrangements for electors.   
 
This arrangement introduced as 
temporary measure in 2009 with the loss 
of Lowfields School in KE polling district 
due to fire damage. 

Westfield Primary 
Community School 

Westfield Primary Community School not 
be used as a polling station for future 
elections to minimise disruption to children 

Bishopthorpe 

Bishopthorpe Parish 
Council 

Return to using Bishopthorpe Village Hall 
as a venue rather than St. Andrew’s 
Church Hall for YAB and YAC polling 
district. 

Cllr Galvin 
Return to using Bishopthorpe Village Hall 
which is more central for electors than St. 
Andrew’s Village Hall 

Acting Returning Officer 

Request for the Electoral Registration 
Officer for the merging of YAC polling 
district with YAB polling district to create a 
single polling district for Bishopthorpe 
Parish Council.  Both polling districts 
currently use the same polling station 

Page 15



Acting Returning Officer 

Return to using Bishopthorpe Village Hall 
as a venue rather than St. Andrew’s 
Church Hall for YAB and YAC polling 
district.   
 
The move to St. Andrew’s Church Hall 
was a temporary measure in 2009 when 
the Village Hall was not available due to 
renovation works. 
 

Derwent None  
 

 
 

Fulford None 
  

Haxby & Wigginton None 
  

Heslington 

Cllr Levine 
 
Provision of polling station for Heslington 
East Development 

Acting Returning Officer 

Request to the Electoral Registration 
Officer for the creation of new polling 
district for the Heslington East 
Development to allow provision of polling 
station for future elections 

Liberal Democrat Group 
 
Provision of polling station for Heslington 
East Development 

Heworth Without Liberal Democrat Group 

Number of streets in the ward are split 
between YFA and YFB polling districts, 
request that entire streets are in the same 
polling district to ensure best provision for 
electors using a single polling station 

Huntington & New 
Earswick 

New Earswick Parish 
Council 

 
Happy with current arrangements for New 
Earswick Parish (YGD polling district) 

New Earswick 
Community Association 

 
Happy with current arrangements for the 
Folk Hall in New Earswick for future 
elections for YGD polling district. 

Osbaldwick Cllr Warters 

Same number of streets around 
Meadowbank has to travel considerable 
distrance to current polling station. 
 
Request for polling station to be located 
closer to these streets 

Page 16



Rural West York Cllr Gillies 
 
Consideration in reducing the number of 
polling stations. 

Skelton, Rawcliffe and 
Clifton Without 

None  
 
 

 

Strensall None  
  

Wheldrake Acting Returning Officer 

 
Provision of polling station at Deighton is 
not providing the best arrangements for 
electors. 
 
In 2009 the Methodist Hall closed and a 
mobile unit was used in pass two 
elections, but in different locations.   
 
 

 
 
 

Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



Number 

Ward Representation Detail 

Advice of 
Electoral 
Services 
Manager 

Recommenda
tion 

1 

 
Dringhouses 

& 
Woodthorpe 

 

 
Merge the current polling 
districts of CA and CB to 
create one polling district 
with the polling place 
designated as Edward the 
Confessor Church Hall.  
The Returning Officer will 
provide a double station 
for all elections. 
 

 
The current polling districts are 
located either side of the Tadcaster 
Road, with CA polling district using 
Edward the Confessor Church Hall 
as the polling station and CB polling 
district using Woodthorpe Primary 
School.  The new polling district 
would be slightly larger, but the 
location of the polling station would 
be central to the new polling district. 
 
The remaining Polling districts will 
be re-designated and the Electoral 
Registration Officer will revise the 
Register of Electors 
 
Map 1  is the current polling district 
arrangements 
Map 2 is the purposed polling district 
arrangements 
 

 
The provision 
of a central 
polling station 
will benefit 
more electors 
than if the 
current 
arrangements 
remain. 
 
A double 
station will be 
able to 
comfortable 
accommodate 
the number of 
electors for 
the new 
polling 
district. 

Agree to the 
merge of 
polling 
districts. 

      

Appendix 
 
Table  2 – Recommendations for Representations submitted to the Deputy Returning Officer. 

P
age 19



2 Dringhouses 
& 

Woodthorpe 

Woodthorpe Primary 
School to not be used as a 
polling station for future 
elections 

No other suitable venue has been 
identified by the Electoral 
Registration Officer in the same 
polling district of CE.  An alternative 
was put forward by Woodthorpe 
Primary School, but the venue is 
outside of the polling district. 
 
Consideration was given to altering 
the boundary of the polling district to 
move the new venue in to CE polling 
district, but this would not provide a 
centrally located polling station for 
the polling district. 
 
Under the Local Government and 
Government (Principal Areas) 
(England and Wales) Rules 2006 
the Returning Officer to use schools 
free of charge.  It is solely the 
decision of the school to close on 
polling day and the Returning Officer 
is aware many parents feel this is an 
inconvenience. 
 
 
 

Continue to 
use current 
polling 
station. 
 
While the use 
of school as a 
polling station 
can cause 
some 
disruption if 
the decision 
is taken to 
close, this 
venue is more 
beneficial to 
the electors 
than the 
alternative. 

Continue to 
use current 
polling station 

P
age 20



In this instance Dringhouse Primary 
School, its location is the best suited 
to this polling district, the choice of 
the venue gives electors the best 
location to exercise their vote for this 
ward. 
 

3 Guildhall 

National Centre for Early 
Music not suitable for older 
electors in west part of EA 
polling district. 
 
The location of the polling 
station is eastern part of 
the polling district, while 
located central to one of 
the two main groups of 
residential properties, it is 
located some distance 
away from the other 
residential area. 
 
 

While a number of suitable venues 
are available for the ED polling 
district, the location of the two 
groups of residential properties does 
not allow one central polling station 
to be provided. 
 
There is however, the opportunity to 
redraw the polling district boundaries 
to split the ED polling district using 
defined features and thus provide a 
polling station for the new polling 
districts that are central. 
 
For EA polling district, the boundary 
may be moved to the river Foss, 
allowing the National Centre for 
Early Music to continue to be used 
as a polling station.  A new polling 
district around the residential 

The altering 
of the polling 
district 
boundaries 
for this ward 
would benefit 
the electors in 
the affected 
polling 
districts. 
 
The nature of 
the city centre 
of York is 
quite unique; 
the two 
residential 
areas in 
question both 
have high 

Agree to the 
alteration of 
polling 
districts. 

P
age 21



properties situated around St 
Andrewsgate would be able to use 
Bedern Hall as a polling station; this 
new polling district would take in the 
remaining city centre area. 
 
Slight amendments to the polling 
district EB and EC would see their 
boundaries now following the major 
roads of the city centre. 
 
Map 3 is the current polling district 
arrangements 
Map 4 is the purposed polling district 
arrangements 
 

proportions of 
residents who 
are aged 60 
or over.  
Providing 
Bedern as 
polling station 
would allow 
more electors 
to the 
freedom to 
vote in 
persons 
without long 
distances to 
travel. 

4 Guildhall 

Provision of polling station 
for EC is not currently 
providing the best 
arrangements for electors. 

 
 
 
EC polling district currently uses St. 
Olave’s Church Hall, this venue was 
first used for the Parliamentary 
Election held in 2010 when the 
previous location of the City Art 
Gallery was not available.   
 
 

 
 
 
The only 
other venue 
the Electoral 
Services 
Manager was 
able to locate 
in this polling 
district was 

Agree to 
continue to use 
current polling 
station 

P
age 22



 
 
In the Referendum and City of York 
Council elections held in May 2011 
the Church Hall was used again and 
was more successful that the 
previous year. 
 
 

the City Art 
Gallery, This 
venue could 
only provide a 
room off the 
main 
entrance to 
the Art 
Gallery and 
the Returning 
Officer was 
concerned in 
regard to the 
secrecy of the 
vote. 
 
St. Olave’s 
Hall is 
suitable, but 
better 
provision of 
signage is 
required for 
electors.  The 
more 
frequently the 
hall is use as 

P
age 23



a polling 
station, the 
more familiar 
electors will 
become with 
its location. 

5 Hull Road 

 
York Environment Centre 
located outside of HA 
polling district and not 
currently providing the best 
arrangements for electors. 

 
The Returning Officer is concerned 
that the polling station for HA is 
currently located outside of the 
polling district.  This is never a 
satisfactory arrangement. 
 
No other venue has been located in 
the polling district and any merging 
of polling districts would not provide 
a single polling station large enough 
to accommodate a double station. 
 

 

Agree to 
continue to use 
current polling 
station. 

6 Micklegate 

Scarcroft Primary School 
in JB polling district not 
able to provide adequate 
arrangements for electors, 
Clements Hall located 
opposite may be more 
suitable. 

 
The Returning Officer is aware that 
venue provided by the school is not 
the most suitable they could offer, 
while there is an option to request 
better facilities the Electoral 
Services Manager was informed of a 
venue directly opposite. 

 
A move to 
Clements Hall 
would provide 
an excellent 
venue for a 
polling 
station. 

Agree to use 
Clements Hall 
as polling 
station  

P
age 24



 
Clement Hall is a recently 
refurbished former church hall that 
would provide excellent facilities for 
electors. 
 
The venue is located directly 
opposite Scarcroft School and 
electors would have no change to 
the distance they travel to vote. 
 

 
 

7 Micklegate 

All Saints R.C. School on 
Mill Lane not able to 
provide adequate 
arrangements for electors, 
English Martyrs Church on 
Dalton Terrace may be 
more suitable 

 
The Returning Officer has 
encountered difficulties with 
securing suitable facilities for 
electors at this polling station.  
Additionally this venue has no 
parking for either electors or 
Returning Officer staff. 
 
The Electoral Services Manager was 
advised that English Martyrs Church 
may have a suitable hall. 
 
While Dalton Terrace is located on 
the opposite side of the Mount, it 
does provide parking and has two 

There is no 
central 
located venue 
in JA polling 
district and 
English 
Martyrs does 
have the 
facility for car 
parking. 
 
The current 
polling station 
is located in 
the stable 
complex of All 

Agree to use 
English 
Martyrs 
Church Hall as 
a polling 
Station 

P
age 25



halls that would provide an excellent 
venue for a polling station. 
 
 
 

Saint’s 
School and is 
not providing 
the best 
polling venue 
for electors 

8 Westfield  

Use of Gateway Christian 
Centre as a joint polling 
station for AB and KE 
polling districts is 
confusing for electors 
 

 
 
The use of the Gateway Christian 
Centre as a venue for polling station 
for both AB polling district and KE 
polling district was an arrangement 
first used in 2009 for the European 
Parliamentary Election.  The loss of 
Lowfield School as a venue 
following a fire, required an 
alternative polling station to be 
provided, no suitable location was 
found in KE polling district. 
 
Given that AB polling district of 
Acomb ward has to use a polling 
station outside of the polling district 
boundaries, as no suitable venue is 
available, the logical course of 
action would be to move the KE 
polling station away from the 

 
The 
temporary 
measure of 
using the 
same venue 
as a polling 
station for two 
different 
polling 
districts does 
occur in other 
wards and 
can work 
successfully. 
 
However, the 
layout of the 
Gateway 
Christian 
centre makes 

Agree to the 
alteration of 
polling 
districts. 

P
age 26



Gateway Christian Centre. 
 
This can be done if KB and KE 
polling districts merge to create one 
polling district, with the polling 
station located at the current KB 
venue of Acomb Parish Church.  
The Returning Officer believes the 
polling station could accommodate a 
double station. 
 
This would allow the Gateway 
Christian Centre to continue as 
venue for AB polling station and 
under any ward boundary review the 
provisions of the boundaries and 
venues could be addressed. 
 
Map 5 is the current polling district 
arrangements 
Map 6 is the purposed polling district 
arrangements 

it difficult to 
manage this 
current 
arrangement. 
 
The combing 
of KB and KE 
polling 
districts would 
create a 
larger polling 
district, but 
would be 
easy 
accommodate
d with a 
double 
station. 
 
 

9 Westfield 

Westfield Community 
Primary School to not be 
used as a polling station 
for future elections 

No other suitable venue has been 
identified by the Electoral 
Registration Officer in the same 
polling district of KC.  No alternative 
venue was put forward by Westfield 

The current 
venue is 
central to the 
polling district 
and provides 

Agree to 
continue to use 
current polling 
station. 

P
age 27



Community Primary School. 
 
Consideration was given to merging 
of KA and KC polling districts, both 
have central polling stations which 
are council maintained. 
 
In this instance Westfield 
Community Primary School, its 
location is the best suited to this 
polling district, the choice of the 
venue gives electors the best 
location to exercise their vote for this 
ward. 
 
Under the Local Government and 
Government (Principal Areas) 
(England and Wales) Rules 2006 
the Returning Officer to use schools 
free of charge.  It is solely the 
decision of the school to close on 
polling day and the Returning Officer 
is aware many parents feel this is an 
inconvenience. 
 

excellent 
location and 
venue to 
electors. 
 
While the use 
of school as a 
polling station 
can cause 
some 
disruption if 
the decision 
is taken to 
close, this 
venue is more 
beneficial to 
the electors 
than the 
alternative of 
merging with 
KA polling 
district and 
using a more 
distant polling 
station. 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

P
age 28



10 Bishopthorpe  Change of venue from St. 
Andrew’s Church Hall to 
Bishopthorpe Village Hall. 
 

Until the European Parliamentary 
Election in 2009 the Village Hall at 
Bishopthorpe was the venue for a 
polling station, but due to 
renovations in 2009 an alternative 
venue was needed. 
 
A new venue of St. Andrew’s Church 
Hall was found suitable and used 
again for the Parliamentary Election 
2010 and the City of York Council 
Elections in 2011. 
 
Both venues are suitable, with 
adequate car parking and access. 
 
The Returning Officer has 
encountered some problems with 
arrangements at St. Andrew’s 
Church Hall, but this does not reflect 
on the actual facilities. 
 

The Electoral 
Services 
Manager is 
due to attend 
the Ward 
Committee 
meeting on 
19th October 
in regard to 
the voting 
arrangements
. 
 
Of the two 
venues, 
Bishopthorpe 
Village Hall is 
more central 
to the electors 
and has 
always in past 
elections 
provided an 
excellent 
venue. 

Agree to move 
polling station 
to 
Bishopthorpe 
Village Hall. 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

P
age 29



11 Bishopthorpe Merge YAC polling district 
to YAB polling district 

As part of the parish review that was 
completed in 2009, the polling 
district of YAC which is the 
Middlethorpe area of the ward was 
added to Bishopthorpe Parish. 
 
As YAC is now part of the parish 
and uses the same polling station, 
there is logical reason to merge the 
polling districts in to one polling 
district for the Parish of 
Bishopthorpe. 
 
 
Map 7 is current voting 
arrangements 

The polling 
district of 
YAC has 42 
electors and 
has used the 
same polling 
station as 
YAB polling 
district since 
1996. 
There would 
be no effect 
on the 
electors or 
voting 
arrangements
. 

Agree to 
merge YAB 
and YAC 
polling districts 
to create one 
new polling 
district. 

12 Heslington 

 
Provide a polling station at 
the Heslington East 
Campus of the University 
of York. 

In 2007 a polling station was 
provided on the University of York 
Campus at Vanburgh College, in a 
response from the Parish Council’s 
request to not share a polling station 
between the village and student 
residences. 
 
This has proved to be successful. 
 

With the 
future 
electorate for 
the 
Heslington 
East Campus 
due to 
increase, the 
current review 
is the best 

Agree to 
create a new 
polling district 
for Heslington 
East Campus 
and provide a 
polling station. 

P
age 30



With the development of Heslington 
East Campus, there were requests 
for a polling station to be provided 
before the May 2011 Referendum 
and City of York Council Elections. 
 
The current electorate while small, 
will increase as the development of 
the Campus continues.  With 
expected electorate to increase to 
over 1000 by the next scheduled 
Parliamentary and Local Elections, 
the current polling arrangements 
would not be adequate. 
 
A venue has been found at the 
Heslington East Campus and the 
University of York is keen to support 
the locating of a polling station. 
 
To provide a polling station at 
Heslington East Campus, a new 
polling district will be created to 
encompass the current and future 
development and designated YEC. 
 
Map 8 is the current polling district 

time for the 
Electorate 
Registration 
Officer to 
address the 
need for a 
new polling 
district. 
 
The purposed 
venue is 
central to the 
current 
development 
and will ideal 
to 
accommodate 
a polling 
station for 
projected 
number of 
students. 

P
age 31



arrangements 
Map 9 is the purposed polling district 
arrangements 

 
13 

 
Heworth 
Without 

 
Number of streets in the 
ward are split between 
YFA and YFB polling 
districts, request that entire 
streets are in the same 
polling district to ensure 
best provision for electors 
using a single polling 
station 

 
YFA polling is not part of Heworth 
Without Parish Council, the streets 
in question cross the boundary 
between the parish area and non-
parish areas. 
 
To move the streets in to wholly the 
parish area, a Local Governance 
Review must be undertaken. 
 
Streets that are not wholly in a 
particular polling district are not 
ideal, in some instances of very long 
streets there is no option, but for 
smaller residential streets such as 
the ones in question for Heworth 
Without, it would benefit to be in the 
same polling district. 
 

 
Due to the 
nature of 
streets that 
have part in a 
parish area 
and part that 
are not, there 
is no easy 
provision for 
voting 
arrangements
. 
 
The streets 
that cross 
parish 
boundaries 
can be 
incorporated 
in to the 
parish 
through a 
Local 

 
Agree to 
continue to use 
current polling 
district and 
polling station 
arrangements 

P
age 32



Governance 
Review; one 
is planned for 
2013 to 
address 
several 
existing 
parish 
matters. 

14 Osbaldwick 

 
Provide a polling station 
for the Meadlands 
properties off Bad Bargain 
Lane.   

 
 
 
 
The current polling station for 
Osbaldwick is located at Osbaldwick 
Village Hall.  The electors who 
reside on Meadlands are required to 
undertake a considerable journey to 
attend the polling station, as there is 
no direct route. 
 
Consideration was given in 2007 to 
this arrangement; however no 
suitable venue is available other 
than Burnholme Community College 
which is located in Heworth Ward. 
 

 
 
 
The moving 
of Meadland 
properties out 
of Osbaldwick 
parish to 
allow the 
electors to 
vote at 
Hemplands 
Kids Club at 
Burholme 
Community 
College can 
be 
incorporated 

Agree to 
continue to use 
current polling 
station 

P
age 33



To allow the electors of Meadlands 
to use Hemplands Kids Club at 
Burnholme Community College, the 
street would have to be removed 
from the parish area.  This would 
require a Local Governance Review. 
 
With the development currently 
taking place in the ward, a more 
suitable and closer venue may 
become available or an option to 
split the polling district to provide a 
second venue. 
 
Map 10 shows current polling district 
arrangements. 

in the next 
planned Local 
Governance 
Review;  
One is 
planned for 
2012 to 
address 
several 
existing 
parish 
matters. 
 
But due to the 
future 
developments 
around this 
area, it may 
be a better 
option to hold 
any such 
review until 
after 2015. 

15 Wheldrake 

 
Provision of polling station 
at Deighton is not 
providing the best 

 
In 2010 long established venue of 
the Methodist Hall in Deighton 
closed and a mobile unit was 

Mobile Units 
do not always 

provide the 
best venue or 

Agree to 
continue to use 
current polling 
station 

P
age 34



 

arrangements for electors. provided for the Parliamentary 
Election in the centre of the village 
on private land with permission of 
the land owner.    
 
This arrangement was not possible 
for 2011 Referendum and City of 
York Council Election and a mobile 
unit was provided in the car park of 
the White Horse Inn on York Road.  
 
No other venue has been located, 
other than the possibility of moving 
the polling station to within the White 
Horse Inn 
 

option of 
electors, but 

in the  
 

circumstance
s such as with 
Deighton, it is 

the only 
option 

currently 
available.   

 
All polling 

stations are 
reviewed and 
considered 
after each 

election and 
for Deighton 
the Deputy 
Returning 
Officer will 
continue to 

look at 
options. 

P
age 35



P
age 36

T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 37



P
age 38

T
his page is intentionally left blank



D
AT

E

D
ra

w
in

g 
N

o.

c 
C

ro
w

n 
C

op
yr

ig
ht

. U
na

ut
ho

ris
ed

 re
pr

od
uc

tio
n 

in
fri

ng
es

 C
ro

w
n 

C
op

yr
ig

ht
 a

nd
 m

ay
 le

ad
 to

 p
ro

se
cu

tio
n 

or
 c

iv
il 

pr
oc

ee
di

ng
s.

SC
AL

E

O
rig

in
at

in
g 

G
ro

up

Pr
od

uc
ed

 fr
om

 th
e 

19
93

 O
rd

na
nc

e 
Su

rv
ey

 1
:1

25
0 

m
ap

pi
ng

 w
ith

 th
e 

pe
rm

is
si

on
 o

f t
he

 C
on

tro
lle

r o
f H

er
 M

aj
es

ty
's

 S
ta

tio
ne

ry
 O

ffi
ce

9,
S

t.L
eo

na
rd

s 
P

la
ce

,Y
or

k,
Y

O
1 

2E
T

Pr
oj

ec
t

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y

N S

E
W

P
S

L

C
ity

 o
f Y

or
k 

C
ou

nc
il 

 L
A 

10
00

 2
08

18

D
R

IN
G

H
O

U
S

E
S

 &
 W

O
O

D
T

H
O

R
P

E
 W

A
R

D
 -

 P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 P
O

L
L

IN
G

 D
IS

T
R

IC
T

S

27
/0

9/
20

11

P
D

R
N

W
D

T
P

N
TS

Te
le

ph
on

e:
 0

19
04

 5
51

55
0

C
D

C
B

C
C

C
A

Page 39



Page 40

This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 41



P
age 42

T
his page is intentionally left blank



E
A

E
B

D
AT

E

D
ra

w
in

g 
N

o.

c 
C

ro
w

n 
C

op
yr

ig
ht

. U
na

ut
ho

ris
ed

 re
pr

od
uc

tio
n 

in
fri

ng
es

 C
ro

w
n 

C
op

yr
ig

ht
 a

nd
 m

ay
 le

ad
 to

 p
ro

se
cu

tio
n 

or
 c

iv
il 

pr
oc

ee
di

ng
s.

SC
AL

E

O
rig

in
at

in
g 

G
ro

up

Pr
od

uc
ed

 fr
om

 th
e 

19
93

 O
rd

na
nc

e 
Su

rv
ey

 1
:1

25
0 

m
ap

pi
ng

 w
ith

 th
e 

pe
rm

is
si

on
 o

f t
he

 C
on

tro
lle

r o
f H

er
 M

aj
es

ty
's

 S
ta

tio
ne

ry
 O

ffi
ce

9,
S

t.L
eo

na
rd

s 
P

la
ce

,Y
or

k,
Y

O
1 

2E
T

Pr
oj

ec
t

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y

N S

E
W

P
S

L

C
ity

 o
f Y

or
k 

C
ou

nc
il 

 L
A 

10
00

 2
08

18

E
C

E
D

E
E

27
/0

9/
20

11

P
G

U
IL

D

N
TS

G
U

IL
D

H
A

L
L

 W
A

R
D

 -
 P

R
O

P
O

S
E

D
 P

O
L

L
IN

G
 D

IS
T

R
IC

T
S

Te
le

ph
on

e:
 0

19
04

 5
51

55
0

Page 43



Page 44

This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 45



P
age 46

T
his page is intentionally left blank



KB

DATE

Drawing No.

c Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

SCALE

Originating Group

Produced from the 1993 Ordnance Survey 1:1250 mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office

Project

9,St.Leonards Place,York,YO1 2ET

DRAWN BY

N

S

EW

PSL

City of York Council  LA 1000 20818

KA

KC

PWEST

27/09/2011

WESTFIELD WARD - PROPOSED POLLING DISTRICTS

KE

KD

KF

Telephone: 01904 551550

NTS

Page 47



Page 48

This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 49



P
age 50

T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 51



P
age 52

T
his page is intentionally left blank



YEA

DATE

Drawing No.

c Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

SCALE

Originating Group

Produced from the 1993 Ordnance Survey 1:1250 mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office

Project

9,St.Leonards Place,York,YO1 2ET

DRAWN BY

N

S

EW

PSL

City of York Council  LA 1000 20818

YEB

27/09/2011

PHESL

NTS

HESLINGTON WARD - PROPOSED POLLING DISTRICTS

Telephone: 01904 551550

YEC

Page 53



Page 54

This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 55



P
age 56

T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	
	2 Minutes
	4 Polling District Review.
	Appendix - recommendations
	Map 1
	Map 2
	Map 3
	Map 4
	Map 5
	Map 6
	Map 7
	Map 8
	Map 9
	Map 10


